**In the Supreme Court for the State of Montana**

Supreme Court No. DA 25-0266

---

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

-vs-

BRENT JAMES OLSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

---

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court,  
Missoula County, Hon. Leslie Halligan, Presiding

---

**APPEARANCES:**

COLIN M. STEPHENS

Stephens Brooke, P.C.

315 W. Pine

Missoula, MT 59802

Phone: (406) 721-0300

[colin@stephensbrooke.com](mailto:colin@stephensbrooke.com)

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

Montana Attorney General

TAMMY PLUBELL

Appellate Bureau Chief

Joseph P. Mazurek Building

Helena, MT 59620-1401

PETER F. LACNY

McFarland Molly Lacny & Duerk

## Introduction

Due process demands that a criminal defendant be afforded a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations. Meaningful adversarial testing of the State's case requires that the defendant not be prevented from raising an effective defense, which must include the right to present relevant, probative evidence.

*Montana v. Egelhoff*, 518 U.S. 37, 63, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 2027 (1996). This case presents fundamental questions about the intersection of a citizen's constitutional right to present a defense with Montana's rape shield law.

Brent James Olson [Olson] was convicted of incest at trial. The testimony of his daughter, M.O., described age-inappropriate sexual knowledge. At trial, the State argued that M.O.'s detailed sexual knowledge could only have come from sexual abuse by Olson.

However, the district court prevented Olson from presenting evidence of two alternative sources for M.O.'s sexual knowledge: extensive adult pornographic material found on her brother's phone, which she admitted using, and documented inappropriate touching between the siblings that both the mother and stepfather knew of

before any allegations against Olson surfaced.

The exclusion of this evidence violated Olson's constitutional rights to present a defense and confront his accuser. Montana courts, like courts across the nation, have recognized that while rape shield laws serve important purposes, they cannot be applied to exclude evidence essential to a defendant's ability to rebut the State's case. This case should be remanded for a new trial.

### **Statement of the Case**

Olson appeals from his conviction and sentencing in the Fourth Judicial District, Missoula County. A jury convicted Olson of one count of Incest, with sentencing enhancements. A second count of Incest, which had been severed in pretrial proceedings, was dismissed by the State at sentencing. (Appendix A).

On March 29, 2025, the district court sentenced Brent to a term of 100 years in the Montana State Prison with 85 of those years suspended. The court did not restrict Brent's parole eligibility. (Id.)

Brent filed a timely Notice of Appeal on April 10, 2025. He is currently housed in the Tallahatchie County Correctional Facility in

Tutwiler, Mississippi.

### **Statement of the Issues**

The district court violated Olson's constitutional right to present a defense and confront witnesses by excluding evidence under Montana's rape shield statute of alternative sources for the alleged victim's age-inappropriate sexual knowledge.

The district court's rape-shield rulings unreasonably and unconstitutionally restricted Olson's right to cross examine his accuser.

### **Summary of the Arguments**

Olson's conviction should be reversed because the court violated his constitutional right to present a defense by excluding evidence of alternative sources for his daughter's age-inappropriate sexual knowledge. Similarly, the court's rulings unreasonably restricted Olson's ability to cross-examine his accuser, a right guaranteed by both the *Sixth Amendment* to the United States Constitution and *Article II, § 24* of the Montana Constitution.

The State built its case on the argument that M.O.'s detailed knowledge of things like the consistency of semen and male anatomy

could only have come from sexual abuse by her father. The State repeatedly emphasized this “experiential, tactile” knowledge as proof of guilt and told the jury that her testimony alone was sufficient for conviction.

The district court prevented Olson from presenting evidence that M.O. had access to extensive pornographic material on her brother's phone (which she admitted using), and that she had engaged in documented inappropriate touching with her brother. The exclusion of this evidence also precluded effective cross-examination of M.O. While rape shield laws serve important purposes, courts here and elsewhere recognize these statutes cannot be applied to exclude evidence essential to a citizen’s fundamental constitutional rights.

Exclusion was not harmless error given that the State's case rested entirely on M.O.'s credibility.

Either individually or in combination, the district court’s error determining the evidence constituted inadmissible “rape shield” material violated Olson’s constitutional right to defend himself.

## **Statement of the Facts**

Olson is the father of daughter, M.O., and son, C.O. On February 27, 2021, Olson learned M.O. was accusing him of sexual abuse when he was contacted by Missoula County Sherriff's detectives. In interviews with law enforcement shortly after the allegations surfaced, Olson denied the allegations and consistently maintained that the conduct never occurred (Trial Tr. 832-833; 890-894). Before any charges were filed, Olson twice volunteered to speak with investigators and gave lengthy interviews in which he denied the allegations. (Trial Tr. 832-833, 890-894).

M.O.'s first disclosure of the alleged abuse did not occur to her mother. Instead, she made her disclosure to her stepfather during a private and coercive exercise he called "king's court" (Trial Tr. 746-756). The "king's court" exercise was described as a time when children could speak freely to their stepfather about anything at all, without fear of punishment. (Trial Tr. 551-552). The child would request a "king's court," and the adult would meet privately with the child to discuss what was bothering them.

During the “king’s court” session where the abuse disclosure supposedly happened, the stepfather and M.O. met alone. The conversation was not recorded. (Trial Tr. 746-747).

The precise questions or statements put to M.O. by her stepfather are unknown. (Id). At trial, when questioned about the “king’s court” at issue here, M.O. testified her and her stepfather did the “king’s court” in her room, and “[stepfather] asked me questions over and over, and I didn’t tell him the truth for quite a bit.” (Id. at 514).

At trial, the stepfather acknowledged he disliked Olson prior to the allegations, in part because Olson had briefly dated stepfather’s sister after Olson’s divorce from M.O.’s mother. (Trial Tr. 772-774). He told investigators Olson was, even before the allegations arose, “not his type of people” and “not his biggest fan.” (Trial Tr. 773). The State’s own expert, Wendy Dutton, testified that improper questioning of children at any time can create unreliable or false allegations. (Tr. 444-447).

After the “king’s court” disclosure to her stepfather, law enforcement was contacted and an investigation began, including a

forensic interview of M.O. (Trial Tr. 582; SEALED Appendix E).

Based on M.O.'s disclosures in the forensic interview, law enforcement obtained a warrant to search Olson's home and seized items including bedding and clothing. (Trial Tr. 829-831). Law enforcement believed "there was a good possibility there would be" physical evidence found on the bedding and clothing that would back up M.O.'s story and confirm abuse by Olson. (Tr. 828). Those items were submitted to the Montana State Crime Lab, but no DNA, serological, or physical evidence supporting the allegations was found. (Tr. 698-705; State's Ex. 5).

At the time of the allegations, Olson was 53 years old, lived in Frenchtown with his long-term partner, and worked in hotel management. (Trial Tr. 858-860). Other than an old DUI, Olson had no criminal history. Olson had been employed by the same company for decades, and several friends and colleagues testified as character witnesses that he was both honest and law-abiding. (Trial Tr. 838-857).

Olson and M.O.'s mother had divorced in 2014 after a seven-year marriage but continued to share parenting responsibilities of both

children under a 50/50 parenting plan. (Trial Tr. 641-644). In early 2021, M.O. expressed sadness about transitioning between homes, and shortly before the allegations surfaced, she told her mother she wanted to live with Olson full-time. (Trial Tr. 542-543).

After the initial February 2021 report, the State charged Olson months later on September 24, 2021 with a single count of sexual assault involving a minor alleged to have occurred at some point between March 1, 2015, and February 12, 2021. (Dkt. 3).

Olson appeared and plead not guilty to the single count on October 20, 2021, (Dkt. 11.10), and the case began its inevitable path toward trial. It remained on that path even after the State filed an amended information on November 9, 2022 – over a year after the first information. (Dkt. 31). The amended information maintained the same six-year temporal breadth for the allegation made by M.O., but added a count of Incest, which carried a significant mandatory minimum possible penalty. Undeterred, Olson maintained his innocence and entered a plea of “not guilty.” (Dkt. 34).

Four months later, the State obtained a Second Amended

Information. (Dkt. 41). This Second Amended Information omitted the original allegation of Sexual Assault on M.O., kept the Incest allegation against M.O., and added as Count II, a second count of Incest. The alleged victim in Count II was C.O., Olson's son who had previously and repeatedly denied ever being sexually assaulted by Olson.

Again, Olson maintained his innocence and entered pleas of "not guilty" to the Second Amended Information. He would take his case to trial, (Dkt. 41.10), and Olson filed an Opposed Motion to Sever Count I from Count II for trial purposes. (Dkt. 49). The State opposed and filed a response brief, attaching several transcripts as exhibits. (Dkts. 52 - 56). Olson replied. (Dkt. 60). The court granted Olson's motion to sever based, in large part, on the court's "fears that resulting prejudice [from a joint trial] would prevent a fair trial." (Dkt. 61 at 8). The case involving M.O. was to be tried first.

The State filed a "Motion in Limine Regarding Trial One Involving [C.O.]." (Dkt. 70). The State's motion sought pretrial rulings on (1) the number and nature of Olson's proposed character witnesses; (2) whether character evidence opens the door to other act evidence, e.g.,

the allegations made by C.O.; (3) the preclusion of certain evidence by operation of the “rape shield” law; (4) admission of a family home movie, which had been referenced by C.O. in his interview with law enforcement but not by M.O. in her interview; and (5) to exclude hearsay statements and clarification of Olson’s cross examination if he testifies.

Olson objected to various *in limine* requests. (Dkt. 109). The State filed a reply brief, (Dkt. 111). On March 19, 2024, without holding a hearing on the fact-intensive issues addressed in the briefing, the court issued an order denying some of the State’s motions but granting the State’s motions invoking the “rape shield” law. (Dkt. 113). The court excluded evidence about C.O. and M.O.’s alleged sexual contact, as well as pornography that C.O. had on his phone under the rape shield law. (Id. at 7-9). The written order did not analyze in depth the admissibility of the pornography on C.O.’s phone. (Id.)

The court conducted a status hearing on March 20, 2024. During that hearing, defense counsel urged the court to reconsider its *in limine* ruling excluding any reference at trial of pornography found on C.O.’s

phone. (3/20/24 Tr. at 23). The pornography was not photographs of M.O. Rather, it was graphic legal pornography C.O. had on his phone. Olson argued the pornography on C.O.'s phone should be introduced at trial because it was a "theme throughout the case" and a "theme throughout the investigation." (Id.) Olson pointed out the images on C.O.'s phone were a part of the investigation, and the lead detective spoke to both the children's mother and stepfather "about [whether they] were they aware what [C.O.] was looking at and would M.O. have had access to [C.O.'s] phone." (Id. 27). The court admitted its disadvantage as to knowledge of the evidence it suppressed but thought the court would benefit by having the opportunity to review [M.O.'s] First Step<sup>1</sup> interview. (Id. at 24). The court also indicated it did not know the timeframe C.O. may have downloaded pornography and whether it had any relevance to statements made by M.O. (Id.) The parties agreed to provide the court with Detective Wafsted's report on the images on C.O.'s phone so the Court could review it in camera and

---

<sup>1</sup>The name of the organization that conducts child forensic interviews in Missoula.

re-evaluate the admissibility of the evidence. (Id. at 28; SEALED Appendix F). The parties also provided the court with a transcript of M.O.'s First Step interview.

A second status hearing was held on March 22, 2024, at which defense counsel sought clarification and reconsideration of the court's *in limine* rulings. (3/22/24 Tr. 18-31). As to the pornography on C.O.'s phone, Olson argued the evidence was admissible because it was a "very important part of [his] defense" as it was something law enforcement investigated, and it was not remote in time. (Id. at 28). Olson again reiterated that a theme in the investigation was where M.O. could have learned the details she described in her First Step Interview. (Id.) Olson argued the pornography on C.O.'s phone went to a question at the heart of the case: where else could M.O. have learned the things she described at her First Step Interview? Olson predicted the "government's going to stand up and say, 'where else could she have learned it,' that's going to be their theme, I could probably give you their openings." (Id. at 29). Olson argued the extensive pornography on C.O.'s phone was where M.O. could have learned the matters she

described, that the evidence is “absolutely relevant and admissible and should not be excluded, and if it was, it “would be hurting a big part of Mr. Olson’s defense.” (Id). The court and the parties also took the opportunity to address proposed jury instructions. (Id. at 31-57).

Olson’s trial began on March 25 and ended on March 29, 2024. March 25 began with an *in camera* meeting between the parties with Olson in attendance. The court again took an opportunity to revisit its rulings regarding the pornography found on C.O.’s phone, evidence obtained from the First Step video, and evidence from the children’s mother that C.O. and M.O. had engaged in inappropriate touching of which the mother and stepfather were aware before either child made their allegations against Olson. (Trial Tr. at 8-11). The court, seeking greater detail to balance the victim’s rights against Olson’s right to a fair trial, announced it would revisit the issue again during the noon hour. (Id. at 10-11). Again, the court sought details via the arguments of the parties. (Trial Tr. 198-203;). Ultimately, the court concluded it would not allow evidence about the children’s alleged touching, or about the pornography on C.O’s phone unless M.O. “said something about her

seeing it on his phone.” (Id. at 204-205).

Trial proceeded and lasted until March 29th. Both children testified at trial, as did their mother and stepfather. Olson also testified in his own defense and vehemently denied the allegations against him.

During trial, M.O. testified but did not say anything about seeing matters on C.O.’s phone. Both Olson and his counsel were careful to avoid violating the pre-trial order. For similar reasons, counsel did not cross-examine M.O. or any other state witness about the touching between the children or about the pornography that investigators found on C.O.’s phone.

As predicted by Olson’s counsel, in closing argument, the State suggested to the jury that M.O. was credible because there was no other way in which a child could know the things she testified about unless Olson had abused her. Among other statements in its closing and rebuttal closing (discussed more fully below in the Argument section), the State argued:

So first I’d like to talk just a little about [M.O.’s] knowledge. Now,

she's 13 at the time she came in here, she was nine years old at the time of disclosure. Again, I thought it was important, I highlighted it here, but she described the semen. You heard Defense counsel talking about glue mixed with slime, she also described a water and flour consistence. Experiential, a physical feeling. And again, in contrast with it not being visible, she said this happened under the clothes and she was unable to provide what the liquid looked like.

Again, I posit that it was consistent with somebody abused, consistent with someone have to put her hands in their father's pants for this type of sexual abuse. He *[sic]* said - - says his penis didn't fit in her hand, but she described the grasping, the circular rubbing.

(Trial Tr. 972).

The jury returned a guilty verdict. (Trial. Tr. 1032).

On April 24, 2024, Olson filed a Motion for New Trial pursuant to *Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-702*, arguing the court's pretrial evidentiary rulings violated his constitutional right to present a defense. (Doc. 152). The motion specifically challenged the court's exclusion of evidence regarding: (1) pornographic material found on C.O.'s cellular phone, and (2) alleged inappropriate touching between M.O. and C.O. (Id.)

Olson argued excluding this evidence prevented him from offering

alternative explanations for M.O.'s ability to describe things like semen consistency and physical characteristics of an erect penis, which formed a central part of the State's case. The State opposed, arguing the evidence was properly excluded under Montana's Rape Shield Law and that Defendant had not provided any factual basis warranting relief. (State's Resp. at 6).

After a hearing, the court denied Olson's motion in a written order on December 9, 2024. (Appendix C). The court noted a trial court may not "grant a new trial only on the basis that it chose to believe one line of testimony different from that which the jury believed." (Id. at 10).

The court acknowledged Olson's constitutional right to present a defense but emphasized this right "must be balanced against public policy exceptions," specifically Montana's Rape Shield Law. (Id. at 13). The court noted Montana law requires courts to balance ensuring a fair trial for the defendant while upholding the compelling interest of the Rape Shield Law from keeping a trial from becoming a trial of the victim. (Id. at 13-14).

In considering the harm of excluding evidence about the

pornography on C.O.'s phone, the court found the probative value was "diminished because this alone would not be able to provide [M.O.] with the ability to describe in detail a tactile experience pertaining to semen and an erect penis." (Id. at 17). The court further noted Olson's "inability to affirmatively demonstrate that [M.O.] had even viewed the pornography" further diminished its probative value. (Id. at 17).

Regarding the potential evidence about C.O. and M.O. interacting sexually, the court determined the probative value of such evidence was "diminished by the Defendant's inability to establish the timing and extent of any inappropriate sexual contact which occurred between the children." (Id. at 18). The court found any alleged touching occurred when [M.O.] was approximately two years old and [C.O.] was three, and that [C.O.] being prepubescent meant he "was unable to provide Jane Doe with experiential knowledge regarding an erect penis and semen." (Id.).

In its order the court also noted Olson had successfully moved to sever the cases, which undermined admission of the sought after evidence because testimony about the disputed evidence would have

required discussion of C.O.'s allegations against Olson. (Id. at 19, 25-26).

On February 24, 2025, after a contested sentencing, the court sentenced Olson to 100 years at MSP with 85 years suspended and designated him a Level 1 sexual offender. (Appendix A).

### **Standards of Review**

This Court's "recent case law makes clear *de novo* review is required for appellate review of a district court's decision to exclude evidence pursuant to the rape shield statute, as such decisions necessarily implicate a defendant's constitutional right to confront witnesses and present a complete defense." *State v. Twardoski*, 2021 MT 179, ¶ 26 n.2, 405 Mont. 43, 491 P.3d 711.

"Our standard of review of a trial court's ruling on a motion for a new trial depends on the basis of the motion." *State v. Dulaney*, 2025 MT 67, ¶ 20, 421 Mont. 251, 566 P.3d 534. "Where a district court exercises its discretion, its decisions will be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Whether a district court has the authority to grant a new trial pursuant to *Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-702*, is a matter of statutory

interpretation, and reviewed as a question of law.” *State v. Morse*, 2015 MT 51, ¶ 18, 378 Mont. 249, 343 P.3d 1196 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

## Argument

### **I. The District Court Violated Olson’s Constitutional Right to Present a Defense.**

#### A. Alternative Theories of M.O.’s Sexual Knowledge

The court thrice denied Olson’s requests to present alternative theories on M.O.’s sexual knowledge. The first was its March 19, 2024, Order on the State’ Motion *in Limine* (Doc. 113); the second was orally at a status conference on the first day of trial before voir dire and during lunch; and third in a written order denying Olson’s Motion for new Trial (Doc. 152).

While rape shield statutes serve important purposes, they cannot be applied to exclude evidence essential for a defendant’s right to present a defense. Montana case law and opinions from other jurisdictions demonstrate defendants have a constitutional right to present evidence of alternative sources for a victim’s age-inappropriate

sexual knowledge when such evidence is relevant to their defense and not speculative or unsupported. Put another way, evidence necessary to rebut specific inferences relied upon by the State must be admitted over rape shield concerns. In Olson's case, the excluded evidence was essential to his defense to explain alternative ways that M.O. had gained age-inappropriate sexual knowledge.

“The principle of the rape shield law, designed as it is to exclude evidence that even if relevant has little probative value but great capacity to embarrass and distract, evidence that is considered to shift the balance of proof too far in favor of the rape defendant, has been held constitutional. But the constitutionality of such a law *as applied to preclude particular exculpatory evidence* remains subject to examination on a case-by-case basis.” *Sandoval v. Acevedo*, 996 F.2d 145, 148-149 (7th Cir. 1993) (emphasis in original).

*Mont. R. Evid. 403* balances the probative value of relevant evidence against the danger of *unfair* prejudice. (emphasis added). The fairness or unfairness of the prejudice is naturally gauged against the evidence that arises during trial and respective arguments each party

makes about that evidence.

This Court has recognized the “conflict” that can “arise between rape shield statutes and a defendant’s right to confront his accuser and to present evidence at trial in defense of the charge against him” and the defendant’s “similarly-based right to present evidence in his defense.” *State v. Colburn*, 2016 MT 41, ¶ 24, 382 Mont. 223, 366 P.3d 258. A concurring opinion in *Colburn*, recognized Colburn’s argument that excessive application of the rape shield statute limited his ability to explore “witness’s bias, prejudices, and motives to fabricate. . .” and to rebut the “powerful inference” that the victim’s sexual knowledge could only have been the result of Colburn’s abuse. *Colburn*, ¶¶48-49 (McKinnon, J., concurring).

Along with *Colburn*, two other cases demonstrate the rape shield statute must bend if it would impinge a defendant’s right to present a defense at trial. In *Twardoski*, the defendant was accused of sexually assaulting a minor, I.A., during a driving lesson. *Id.* ¶ 6. At trial, the court excluded evidence that shortly before the alleged assault by Twardoski, I.A. had been sexually abused by a family friend, Cody Hill,

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