IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 25-0266

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

BRENT JAMES OLSON,

Defendant and Appellant.

REDACTED BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court,
Missoula County, The Honorable Leslie Halligan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
THAD TUDOR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
thad.tudor@mt.gov

COLIN M. STEPHENS
Stephens Brooke, P.C.
315 West Pine
Missoula, MT 59802

PETER F. LACNY
McFarland Molly Lacny & Duerk
283 West Front Street, Suite 203
Missoula, MT 59802

MATTHEW C. JENNINGS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Despite the repeated encouragement from the district court and the State to demonstrate how pornography on the victim’s brother’s cell phone was relevant, Olson failed to do so. There was no evidence that M.O. knew about the pornography. As the district court recognized, without evidence that M.O. had seen or was even aware of the pornography on her brother’s phone, it could not have been relevant to her allegations.

Likewise, whatever touching may have occurred between M.O. and C.O.—when they were both prepubescent, could not possibly explain M.O.’s description of the feel of her father’s semen or the size of his erect penis as compared to her own hand. The district court correctly precluded this evidence because it was vague, irrelevant, and barred by Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(2).

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

A district court has broad discretion to determine the admissibility of evidence and this Court generally reviews evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Twardowski*, 2021 MT 179, ¶ 14, 405 Mont. 43, 491 P.3d 711

(citations omitted). Where a district court’s evidentiary ruling is based on its interpretation of a statute, this Court reviews the district court’s ruling de novo for correctness. *Twardowski*, ¶ 14 (citing *State v. Lake*, 2019 MT 172, ¶ 22, 396 Mont. 390, 445 P.3d 1211).

II. The district court correctly excluded irrelevant evidence

A. Applicable law

Montana’s Rape Shield Statute provides:

Evidence concerning the sexual conduct of the victim is inadmissible in prosecutions under this part except evidence of the victim’s past sexual conduct with the offender or evidence of specific instances of the victim’s sexual activity to show the origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease that is at issue in the prosecution.

Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-111(2).

This statute “is designed to prevent the trial of the charge against the defendant from becoming a trial of the victim’s prior sexual conduct,” and to “protect victims from being exposed at trial to harassing or irrelevant questions concerning their past sexual behavior.” *State v. Colburn*, 2016 MT 41, ¶ 22, 382 Mont. 223, 366 P.3d 258 (citations omitted).

The Rape Shield Statute “cannot be applied to exclude evidence arbitrarily or mechanistically.” *Colburn*, ¶ 25. It is the district court’s “responsibility to strike

a balance in each case between the defendant’s right to present a defense and a victim’s rights under the [rape shield] statute.” *Id.*

Balancing the interests of the defendant with those protected by the Rape Shield Statute “should require that the defendant’s proffered evidence is not merely speculative or unsupported.” *State v. Awbery*, 2016 MT 48, ¶ 20, 382 Mont. 334, 367 P.3d 346 (citations omitted). “Speculative or unsupported allegations are insufficient to tip the scales in favor of a defendant’s right to present a defense and against the victim’s rights under the rape shield statute.” *State v. Johnson*, 1998 MT 107, ¶ 24, 288 Mont. 513, 558 P.2d 1182 (citations omitted).

The court should consider whether the evidence is “relevant and probative,” and whether the probative value of the evidence is outweighed by its prejudicial effect. *Awbery*, ¶ 20.

B. Pornography on C.O.’s phone was irrelevant.

It is axiomatic that M.O. could not have learned how to describe the consistency/feel of semen or the size of her father’s penis compared to her own hand from pornography that she did not know existed. That was the essence of the district court’s order:

unless [M.O.] says she was influenced by it, unless she says she saw it, unless it had some bearing on her knowledge or the statements that she’s made—*I’d hate to have this trial become all about the pornography on [C.O.’s] phone, which could very well turn to that.*

And she may—I don't know if she even knows that [C.O.] had pornography on his phone at this juncture. So I'm not going to raise it—or allow it to be raised unless she independently provides that information, and then we can readdress the scope.

(Tr. at 205 (emphasis added).)

Olson's reliance on *Colburn* and *Twardoski* is misplaced. (See Appellant's Br. at 21-22.) Under these facts, there was no immediate relevant “straight-line connection” between the victim's sexual knowledge and pornography she had not viewed. See *Twardowski*, ¶ 35.

In *Colburn*, the defendant was charged with sexually abusing his daughter and a neighbor, R.W., both 11 years old. *Colburn*, ¶ 9. Colburn sought to admit evidence that R.W. had been sexually abused by her own father as “a motive to fabricate” and “an alternative source of R.W.'s sexual knowledge.”⁵ *Id.* ¶ 37. This Court observed that “the proffered evidence that R.W. was abused by her father was neither speculative nor unsupported, given that he was convicted on charges stemming from sexual assaults against his daughter.” *Id.* ¶ 25.

Importantly, R.W. had explained that she felt comfortable disclosing her father's abuse because her allegations against Colburn had been taken seriously, “thus tying her disclosure in the two cases together.” *Id.* ¶ 26. This Court concluded:

⁵ In her forensic interview regarding Colburn, R.W. expressed that “she [R.W.] just recently felt comfortable disclosing this information because her mom ‘believed’ her about the sexual abuse by the neighbor, James Colburn.” *Colburn*, ¶ 37.

In the present case the [d]istrict [c]ourt’s statements excluding Colburn’s proffered evidence show no weighing of his rights to present a defense with the interests represented by the Rape Shield Law. The [d]istrict [c]ourt abused its discretion by mechanistically applying the Rape Shield Law to exclude Colburn’s proffered evidence.

Id. ¶ 29.

In *Twardoski*, the defendant wanted to admit evidence of “near contemporaneous” sexual abuse that the victim, I.A., had alleged against another individual named Hill. *Twardoski*, ¶¶ 22-23. In determining the district court erred in excluding the evidence, this Court stated:

Here, as in *Colburn I*, there is a straight-line connection between I.A.’s prior sexual abuse by Hill and the allegations she made against Twardoski—the nature and circumstances of the allegations are quite unique and near identical right down to the very distinct allegation of enticing I.A. to play sexual “truth or dare” with the “dares” being identical in nature to those perpetrated by Hill.

Twardoski, ¶ 35.

However, where the defendant’s proffered evidence “never progressed past conjecture and speculation,” this Court has affirmed the district court’s determination that there was insufficient foundation to admit the evidence and concluded that the district court properly balanced the competing interests when it excluded evidence of prior sexual abuse. *Awbery*, ¶ 21.

In *Awbery*, the defendant’s proffered evidence was that three of the four alleged victims had been previously sexually assaulted, which increased the

chances that they had suffered PTSD, thereby increasing the chance that their allegations against Awbery were “erroneous.”⁶ *Id.* ¶¶ 12-13.

This Court observed that “there was no clear evidence of the prior acts, either the facts of the abuse or the effects of it upon the victims.” *Id.* ¶ 22.

Distinguishing those facts from *Colburn*, this Court stated:

In this case, by contrast, the [d]istrict [c]ourt carefully considered Awbery’s right to present a defense to the charges; weighed it against the interests protected by the Rape Shield Law; and ruled that Awbery might be allowed to present evidence of prior abuse if it were made relevant by trial testimony.

Id. ¶ 26.

Here, the district court made the same ruling:

But, you know, unless [M.O.] says she was influenced by it, unless she says she saw it, unless it had some bearing on her knowledge or the statements that she’s made—I’d hate to have this trial become all about the pornography on [C.O.’s] phone, which could very well turn to that.

And she may—I don’t know if she even knows that [C.O.] had pornography on his phone at this juncture. So I’m not going to raise it—or allow it to be raised unless she independently provides that information, and then we can readdress the scope.

(Tr. at 205.)

⁶ The same perpetrator on two of the three victims of previous sexual abuse had been convicted for those offenses. *Awbery*, ¶ 12. The third victim’s alleged perpetrator was “not fully investigated.” *Id.*

Moreover, the State practically invited Olson’s lawyers to inquire into alternative sources of M.O.’s sexual knowledge, including the pornography on C.O.’s phone: “And from the State’s perspective I don’t think it would be inappropriate for them to inquire with [M.O.] if she had seen anything anywhere else *or was aware of this material.*” (3/22/24 Tr. at 30 (emphasis added).)

The record shows that Olson’s attorneys failed to establish that the pornography on C.O.’s cell phone was relevant to any material issue in this case. Without anything to show that M.O. had seen or was aware of that pornography, it could not have affected her allegations against Olson, and the district court correctly excluded that evidence as irrelevant.

C. Alleged touching between M.O. and C.O. was irrelevant

As with the pornography on C.O.’s phone, the district court correctly precluded evidence of alleged touching between C.O. and M.O. because Olson failed to establish that it was relevant to M.O.’s allegations against him. This Court addressed a similar situation in *State v. Walker*, 2018 MT 312, 394 Mont. 1, 433 P.3d 202.

Walker’s stepdaughter, R.W., who was 11 years old at the time of the incident, testified that Walker had sexually assaulted her. *Id.* ¶¶ 4, 5. Walker contended that R.W. had gotten into his bed, made sexual advances towards him, and “as soon as he realized what was happening, he jumped out of the bed.” *Id.* ¶ 5.

Walker sought to introduce evidence of a prior incident when Stacy Wood (Wood) found then eight-year-old R.W. in bed with a three-year-old. *Id.* ¶ 50. R.W. ran away and the three-year-old told Wood that R.W. was touching her “hoo-hoo,” which was the family name for private parts. *Id.* Walker contended that the past sexual behavior was relevant to R.W.’s “sexual awareness” and it corroborated that R.W. had been acting out sexually towards him. *Id.*

The district court excluded the evidence, but told the parties that it would “reconsider the issue if presented with different information.” *Id.* ¶ 58.

Affirming the district court’s exclusion of the evidence, this Court noted that “there was no clear evidence of the prior incident—Walker’s proffered evidence of R.W.’s sexual conduct was speculative and unsupported.” *Id.* ¶ 59. Further, this Court concluded that, “The type of evidence Walker sought to admit is precisely the type of probe into R.W.’s past sexual conduct that the Rape Shield Law was designed to exclude” *Id.*

Here, there was no evidence of what the touching between M.O. and C.O. actually involved, much less whether it had affected M.O.’s allegations against Olson. As the district court observed:

So given my review of what typically is discussed under Rape Shield in the balancing of information I guess I don’t have enough information to indicate that any of this touching was similar enough in—to the information here—and of course we haven’t heard [M.O.’s] testimony, and certainly if it comes up that there was more, and there was more touching and that it’s impacted her or had some bearing on

the charges against Mr. Olson, then we may need to revisit it, but at this point I don't see it coming in.

I don't even know what it would be to come in that would have sufficient kind of similar contact, or nexus, or even raise issues if—so ten, so she's probably eight—seven or eight when this is happening.

(Tr. at 201.)⁷

The district court concluded, “But at this juncture I guess in balance I would think that any of that would be omitted unless, as I said, [M.O.] testifies to something different, and in fact the contact they had was more of a sexual nature with [C.O.]. (*Id.* at 202.)

M.O. did not testify to anything that would have suggested that whatever took place between her and C.O. had any effect on her allegations. Allowing Olson to explore an allegation of touching this incredibly vague would have been exactly the type of probe into M.O.'s past sexual conduct that Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(2) was designed to exclude.

As with the pornography that M.O. did not know existed, there is no plausible argument that this touching, whatever it was, would have enabled M.O. to describe the feel of semen or the size of her father's penis compared to her own hand.

⁷ The only record evidence of when the touching may have occurred was that it was about four and a half to five years prior to C.O.'s February 23, 2023 First Step interview. (Doc. 52, State's Ex. D at 24: C.O. stating that the touching took place “two or—one or—one-and-a-half, two years” prior to them moving into their new residence, which had taken place about three years prior to the interview.)

CONCLUSION

The district court's ruling, which required Olson to establish the relevance of proffered evidence before allowing him to admit it, was consistent with this Court's precedent and followed the plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(2). Olson's conviction should be affirmed.